### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-734

VICTOR TONY JONES,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_

CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER
Litigation Director
Florida Bar No. 0899641
CAPITAL COLLATERAL
REGIONAL COUNSEL
101 NE 3d Avenue

Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal involves the summary denial of Mr. Jones' Rule

3.850 motion following a limited evidentiary hearing. References
in the Brief shall be as follows:

(R. \_\_\_\_) -- Record on Direct appeal;

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Dade County, Florida, entered the judgments of convictions and sentences under consideration. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Jones's convictions and sentences. Jones v. State, 652 So. 2d 346 (Fla.), cert. denied, 116 S. Ct. 202 (1995). On March 24, 1997, Mr. Jones filed an initial Rule 3.850 motion (PCR. 38-77). An amended motion was subsequently filed (PCR. 93-202), along with a motion alleging that Mr. Jones was not competent. Following an evidentiary hearing, the lower court found Mr. Jones competent, and a final 3.850 was thereafter filed (PCR. 203-314). After a Huff<sup>2</sup> hearing, the court granted an evidentiary limited to the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel as to voluntary intoxication and mitigation (PCR. 365). An evidentiary hearing was conducted on various dates, and an order denying relief was entered (PCR. 379-96). A timely notice of appeal was filed (PCR. 397).

At the evidentiary hearing, the following evidence was adduced:

1. Art Koch. Koch has been employed with the public defender's office for 22 years, and at the time he represented Mr. Jones, he was in the major crimes unit (PCR. 470-71). At the time, each attorney was responsible for cases in three or four courts (PCR. 471-72). Although capital attorneys were, in theory, supposed to get a second chair to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See Carter v. State, 706 So. 2d 873 (Fla. 1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>See <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

assist, it "never worked that way in reality" because "everyone in major crimes had caseloads that were too heavy to allow that" (PCR. 472). With respect to Mr. Jones' case, although "a couple of people co-counseled the case, . . . in reality I did probably 100 percent of the lawyering that went up to the point in trial" (PCR. 473). Another attorney, Rosa Rodriguez, was later assigned assist (PCR. 474). Her role was essentially as that of "a warm body" to sit next to Koch (PCR. 474). Rodriguez had no capital trial experience and no role in preparing for the case (Id.).

Investigator Juan Sastre was also assigned to the case, but "in reality, the situation with Juan Sastre was similar to mine except perhaps exacerbated because he has responsibilities for all the cases in those three courts" (PCR. 475). Koch had a "very structured" relationship with Sastre in that "I would specifically tell him to do a task and he would go out and do it and come back and report to me" (PCR. 476). For example, if Koch wanted Sastre to speak with a witness, he would make the assignment by filling out a written request to Sastre (Id.). This same procedure would apply if Koch wanted Sastre to obtain any documents (PCR. 477). Koch had no independent recollection of the number of cases he was handling along with Mr. Jones' but identified a motion for continuance he filed indicating he had two other capital cases going to trial at the same time as Mr. Jones' (PCR. 479; Defense Exhibits B & C). In one of the motions, Koch

explained that he needed additional time because of staffing shortages in the public defender's offices with respect to social workers, on whom he relied to investigate penalty issues (PCR. 481). Social workers also worked in assigned courts and were available for all attorneys, not just those involved in capital cases (PCR. 482). The social worker involved in Mr. Jones' case was Marlene Schwartz (<u>Id</u>.). Schwartz would provide notes to Koch about her work; the notes were introduced as Defense Exhibit D (PCR. 484). Koch would have read the notes at the time he represented Mr. Jones (<u>Id</u>.).

The State had a "pretty strong" case at the guilt stage, and Koch spent "far greater time preparing for the first phase as opposed to the second phase" (PCR. 485). Because Mr. Jones was shot in the head when he was arrested and hospitalized (PCR. 486), several mental health experts were involved in some fashion in the case, including Dr. Hyman Eisenstein, a neuropsychologist, Dr. Steven Sevush, a neurologist, Dr. Brad Fisher, Dr. Jethro Toomer, and Dr. Merry Haber (Id.). Koch wanted Eisenstein to get an idea of Mr. Jones' neurological status and further recommendations (PCR. 487). Mr. Jones' neurological status was important in terms of his ability to communicate, his competency, his levels of medication, and possible mitigation evidence (Id.).

Competency was one area that Koch was concerned about in the early stages of preparation (Id.). Koch did not recall if Eisenstein or Sevusch ever specifically said that Mr. Jones was competent, but "[t]he

implication was that he was competent" (PCR. 488). Koch could not recall if the issue of competency "was ever specifically discussed prior to trial" (Id.). Koch would have not had any reason noy to ask Eisenstein if he thought Mr. Jones was competent, although Koch himself had no question he was competent (Id.). Had Eisenstein believed that Mr. Jones was incompetent, a competency hearing would have been requested (PCR. 489). Koch could not recall what Sevusch opined as to competency, but he identified a note from his file indicating that Sevusch believed he was competent (PCR. 493; Defense Exhibit E).

Koch gave thought to hiring a mitigation specialist named Lee

Norton (PCR. 494). Koch identified a letter in his file from Norton

dated December 17, 1991 (PCR. 495). Over the State's objection, the

court refused to allow the letter into evidence, but it was proffered

into the record as Defense Exhibit A-4 (PCR. 497). Norton never worked

on Mr. Jones' case (PCR. 497). He was interested in hiring a

mitigation specialist due to the lack of support and investigative

staff in the public defender's office (PCR. 498). Koch never requested

Norton's appointment (Id.).

Koch could not recall why he requested Dr. Fisher's services (<u>Id</u>. at 499). Fisher never testified in Mr. Jones' case (<u>Id</u>.). As for Dr. Haber, Koch recalled that she saw Mr. Jones on one occasion but never testified (<u>Id</u>.). Koch asked for Dr. Toomer to be appointed because he is African-American and this was important to establish a "bond" with

Mr. Jones (<u>Id</u>.). Toomer did testify at the penalty phase (PCR. 500). Koch believed that Eisenstein testified at the second phase, but could not recall if it was in the presence of the jury (<u>Id</u>.). In terms of providing background information to the experts, "I would ask the expert what they want in terms of information and then respond accordingly" (PCR. 501). Some experts do not want information, and some do (PCR. 502).

Koch had no specific recollection of Mr. Jones' previous psychiatric admission in Jackson Memorial Hospital [JMH], but had no specific recollection of having seen any documents from JMH (PCR. 503). The JMH evaluation was admitted into evidence as Defense Exhibit F (PCR. 504). Koch acknowledged that Marlene Schwartz's notes referred to the fact that Mr. Jones was in the JMH "psych ward" for 60 to 90 days (Id. at 504). Koch had no strategic reason not to attempt to find these records or provide them to the experts (PCR. 505, 511).

Koch could not recall what information he had regarding whether Mr. Jones had been intoxicated at the time of the offense, but he identified a toxicology report which indicated that a blood test revealed cocaine and benzoylecgonine (PCR. 514-15). He also acknowledged that in Marlene Schwartz' notes, it indicates "Cocaine, looks like one fourth, and then in the margin `shot cocaine bag \$25.00 Drank one bottle one fifth sherry with --'" (PCR. 516). These were among the notes provided to Drs. Toomer and Haber, and Koch himself

relied on them to prepare (PCR. 517). Koch presented no evidence of intoxication at either the guilt or penalty phase (PCR. 519). Substance abuse and intoxication at the time of the offense could establish both statutory and nonstatutory mitigation (PCR. 520). Koch "may have" provided the experts with information about Mr. Jones' intoxication, but he could not specifically recall (PCR. 521). According to Koch, intoxication is a "tricky piece of evidence to deal In theory it's supposed to be mitigation" (PCR. 521). Although the law recognizes it as mitigation, "under the circumstances of this case I probably would not consider it mitigation" because "[j]uries are not very impressed with defendants who go out and get intoxicated on illegal substances and then have their lawyers present it as mitigation" (PCR. 521). Koch was "more concerned" about Mr. Jones' neurological situation, and Mr. Jones had also told him that he was not intoxicated (Id.). He made no effort to corroborate what Mr. Jones told him, and "unless we found someone who happened to be using drugs with Mr. Jones, it would be very difficult to corroborate" (PCR. 522). Koch testified, however, that he "probably would not have attempted to corroborate it because I have a dim view of intoxication, be it alcohol or illegal drugs, as being a mitigator" (Id.). He confirmed that he "didn't pursue it or attempt to corroborate it" (PCR. 523).

Regarding penalty phase, Koch wanted to establish statutory and nonstatutory mitigation ( $\underline{Id}$ .). He interviewed Mr. Jones to "get to

know him" and "to begin developing a basis for penalty phase investigation" (PCR. 524). Mr. Jones provided names of various siblings and relatives, including a cousin Carl Lee Miller; Koch's notes indicate that he put an asterix next to Miller's name (PCR. 525-26). Mr. Jones also told him about Laura Long, who was the woman that raised him (PCR. 526). Mr. Jones told Koch that he was beaten with a belt by Laura's son, Lawrence, and that "this was beating, not spanking" (PCR. 526-27). He also told Koch about his sister, Pamela Mills, who was "also beat" and that she lived in New York (PCR. 527). He told Koch that his cousin Carl was also beaten (Id.).

Laura Long was Koch's primary contact person in the family, but she was a "very reluctant participant in the whole process" (PCR. 528). In one of his notes, Koch memorialized a discussion he had with Long about "our lack of evidence in mitigation" and that Long was "upset at Victor" (PCR. 529). She told Koch she did not know why or how Victor "went wrong" and "she just does not have any idea what happened" with him (PCR. 530). He also wrote that Long was "educated, straight laced and rather cold person emotionally" (Id.). Despite this, Koch had Long testify before the judge because she provided "some evidence to humanize him to some degree. I wasn't particularly satisfied with her as a witness or a potential witness, but you had to deal with what you had" (Id.). Long portrayed the time that Victor spent in her home as "idyllic" (Id.). This was not how she had portrayed it to Koch when

they talked, but Koch explained that this was the problem the public defender's office had due to lack of investigative resources for mitigation (PCR. 531-32). Koch did not recall ever speaking to Mr. Jones' sister, Pamela, nor his cousin, Carl (PCR. 533). He did not recall if any of the experts talked with family members (<u>Id</u>.).

Co-counsel Rodriguez was the attorney who did the closing arguments at penalty phase (PCR. 534). This decision was made "at the last moment because she had very little participation in the case at all" (Id.). Although Koch does not "adhere to this as a general proposition," he had Rodriguez do the closing because "the rule of thumb seems to be, among defense lawyers, have one person do first phase and have one person argue second phase" (PCR. 534). From what Koch perceived at the guilt phase, he believed it "probably would be best to have someone else argue second phase" (PCR. 535).

Koch also recalled speaking to a witness named Gregory Whitney (PCR. 536). According to Koch's notes, Whitney and Mr. Jones "grew up together," he stressed the impact of drugs in Victor's life, and he lived near Orlando and was "very willing to help" (PCR. 537). Koch decided not to call Whitney because he "also got into a bit of trouble" but eventually outgrew it, and Koch did not want to compare Whitney, a white kid, with Mr. Jones, a black kid, because Whitney became a productive citizen while Mr. Jones continued to have problems (PCR. 538). Whitney's information corroborated Mr. Jones' drug history, but

according to Koch, there was never "a dispute about whether or not he had a drug history, a drug abuse history" (PCR. 539). Mr. Jones' "chronic drug problem" began in his early teens when he became "fixated with trying to find his mother" and went off to New York and Atlanta (PCR. 540). Thus, "his drug history was not something that was in dispute" (Id.). Koch was not sure if he provided Whitney's name to the mental health experts (Id.). However, even if a witness is not going to testify, he can talk to mental health experts (Id.).

On cross, Koch testified that at the time of Mr. Jones' trial, he had been doing capital cases for about four years, and this was not his first capital case (PCR. 544). At the time of Mr. Jones' case, he had about four other capital cases at the same time (PCR. 549). There was never a second chair attorney involved at the outset in the capital cases and "[t]hat's exactly what the problem was" (PCR. 551). During the course of the investigation, Koch asked Sastre to obtain certain records such as school records, DOC records, and "probably" would have asked him to obtain hospital records (PCR. 555). He also would have asked Sastre to try and find family members (PCR. 556).

Koch "frequently" asked his mental experts to confer with each other and share information, and did so in this case (PCR. 567). It was especially important for Toomer to have all available information,

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ He later agreed with the prosecutor's statement that at the time of Mr. Jones' case, Koch had one person who had been sentenced to death (PCR. 556-57).

as he was the expert that testified at the penalty phase (PCR. 568-69). Koch was preparing for the penalty phase prior to guilt phase (PCR. 571). The decision of who to call at the penalty phase was "likely" made between the first and second phases (PCR. 572). Of the experts involved in the case, only a Dr. Lefler was unavailable due to retirement (Id.). Koch was "dissatisfied" with Haber's work, and "although she did some evaluations and some work, I at some point decided not to have her continue" (Id.).4 Eisenstein, Sevsush, Toomer, and Fisher were those that were more "intensely involved in the end" (PCR. 572-73). Koch had no specific recollection as to Fisher's involvement (PCR. 573). Eistenstein did a lot of work with Mr. Jones, and was an expert on whom Koch relies and has a lot of respect for (PCR. 574). He also had confidence in Toomer and Fisher, with whom Koch had worked before (PCR. 584). "In all probability" Koch would have requested a competency hearing if one of the experts had opined that Mr. Jones was not competent (Id.). Even if the expert opined that Mr. Jones was not competent, Koch would want to know why the expert so believed, and "[b]ased upon that answer I would make a determination on the issue of whether to raise the issue of competency or not" ( $\underline{Id}$ .).

In Koch's view, Mr. Jones' competency was not an issue prior to trial because he knew what his role was, the role of a prosecutor, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>He later explained that "I don't have a great deal of confidence in Mary [sic] Haber as a professional" (PCR. 580).

nature of the charges, etc (PCR. 575). Mr. Jones was also able to discuss his background (<u>Id</u>. at 575-76). After getting all the information he could from the doctors and Mr. Jones, Koch decided to present Mr. Jones in the most favorable light (PCR. 580). He agreed that child abuse, drug abuse, learning disabilities, are all nonstatutory mitigation (PCR. 581). He reiterated that Mr. Jones told him that he and his sister and cousin had all been beaten at home (<u>Id</u>. at 581-82). These issues "would require some further investigation" but Koch could not recall what efforts were made to locate family members (<u>Id</u>.). Through the investigator, Koch attempted to locate Valerie Johnson, another sister (PCR. 582; State Exhibit 3). He did not recall if he had addresses for other siblings (PCR. 583).

With respect to the intoxication defense, Koch would "probably" have asked Mr. Jones whether he was under the influence of drugs or alcohol at the time of the offense (PCR. 587). Mr. Jones told him that he was innocent, and that was the defense Koch was going to present (PCR. 588). He never made a strategic decision not to employ an intoxication defense because "it never arose" (PCR. 589). In his "opinion" he did not "feel that evidence of intoxication, regardless of the circumstances, is very good mitigation evidence" but acknowledged

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This exhibit consisted of a memorandum from Koch to investigator Sastre, requesting that Sastre try to locate Valerie Johnson. According to the memo, a letter with Koch's business card were left at the address purporting to be that of Johnson.

that "[t]here are some people that feel otherwise" (PCR. 589-90).

Because of his opinion, Koch filed a motion in limine to keep out evidence that there was cocaine detected in Mr. Jones' blood upon his arrest (PCR. 590; R. 193-94).

Koch did present Long's testimony, but she "appeared to be embarrassed to be associated" with Mr. Jones, that she "wanted to sever ties with him, certainly publicly, maybe even emotionally" (PCR. 591). Long was "the one witness, probably the only witness, that could supply any information about the early part of his life. That's extremely important" (PCR. 592). However, Koch "never felt she was as open or candid with me as she could be" (<u>Id</u>.). Long presented Mr. Jones' early history as "everything was wonderful. He was wonderful. wonderful. Everything was wonderful" (Id.). Koch acknowledged that "there appears to be some conflict in the history concerning physical abuse" and that it was "impossible, for all intents and purposes, for a white social worker to show up to a black person's doorstep and say, `Hi, I'm a social worker. Why don't you tell me about all your family secrets' (PCR. 594). This, Koch explained, is "why it is absolutely essential that the social worker, the mitigation investigator, have time to develop relationships. . . That was a deficiency in this particular case" (PCR. 594). Because of this lapse, "we were not able to develop the truth with respect to that situation. I don't know what it was. You don't know what it was. We were never able to develop the

rruth because of limited resources we had" (PCR. 595). The "discrepancy" between the version Long presented and what Mr. Jones told him "was particularly critical to me because I think studies have shown generally that we manufacture killers, frankly, by abusing young children. So that was a very critical factor" (PCR. 596). Koch tried, to the extent possible, to investigate, but explained that because of the sensitive nature of such issues, long term rapport with family members is necessary (PCR. 599-600). Any attempts made to locate family members would be reflected in the notes of the investigator and social worker, as would any discussions with any family members (PCR. 602-03). The subject of physical violence in the family is "so critical that if there was any hint of child abuse, that would be investigated" as fully as could have been done with the resources available (PCR. 605).

On redirect, Koch could not state whether the mental health experts actually conferred with each other (PCR. 608). As for Haber, Koch did not want to "criticize her unduly" but the work she did in Mr. Jones' case was "superficial" (Id.). He acknowledged that what you get from an expert is only as good as the information that they have (PCR. 609). He also agreed that even if an expert believed the defendant to be competent, that expert could still be used for mitigation (PCR. 611). Regarding Koch's testimony that he did not view Mr. Jones' competency to be a question once he was released from the hospital,

Koch acknowledged a letter dated April 4, 1991 (well after Mr. Jones' release) which he sent to Dr. Eisenstein specifically requesting that Eisenstein evaluate Mr. Jones' competency (PCR. 612; State's Exhibit 2).

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