## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-734

VICTOR TONY JONES,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,

CRIMINAL DIVISION

# BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney
General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131

PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5654

#

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

circumstances, the lower court properly found that Defendant had not proven that he could have presented direct, nonhearsay evidence to have supported the admission of the experts testimony and rejected it on that basis. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

Moreover, both Dr. Fisher and Dr. Eisenstein based their opinions on information provided to them by a number of family members, including Michael, Valerie, and Aunt Bea. Dr. Fisher particularly emphasized that his opinion was largely based on what Michael told him. However, no evidence was presented regarding whether these individuals would have been available at the time of trial. As argued previously, while Mr. Miller claimed that he would have been available, this assertion was not credible. As Defendant did not show that the basis of the opinions would have been available, he did not prove that counsel could have presented such opinions at the time of trial. In order to have shown that Koch was ineffective for failing to present these opinions, Defendant had to show that such opinions were available at the time of trial. State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342, 355 (Fla. 2000); see also Elledge v. Dugger, 823 F.2d 1439, 1466 (11th Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 1014 (1988). As such, the lower court properly denied this claim.

Further, both Dr. Eisenstein and Dr. Fisher stated that they

had relied on the toxicology report. However, both admitted that they did not know what the report meant. As such, the lower court properly found that the doctors were not credible. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

#### B. GUNSHOT RESIDUE

Defendant next contends that the lower court erred in summary denying his claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to present the result of the gunshot residue tests of Defendant's hand and Mr. Nestor's right hand. Defendant asserts that counsel should have used this evidence to show that Mr. Nestor had not fired the gun and that Defendant had not touched the gun either during the shooting or thereafter. However, the trial court properly summarily denied this claim as it was inconsistent with counsel's theory of the crime and the evidence.

Defendant's theory of the crime was that he was accidently shot by Mr. Nestor when he came upon Mr. Nestor and the unknown assailant struggling and attempted to pull the assailant off of Mr. Nestor. (DAT. 1275) He asserted that Defendant had then moved around the office attempted to use the phone to call for help and picked up Mr. Nestor's gun to protect himself. (DAT. 1275-76) This theory was consistent with the evidence of blood on the phone, Defendant's statement that Mr. Nestor had shot him

and Defendant's possession of the gun when the police arrived. However, it would be inconsistent with claim that the gunshot residue tests show that the unknown assailant fired the shot and that Defendant never touched the gun. As this theory is inconsistent with the defense counsel asserted, he cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise it. See Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 485 (Fla. 1998); Remeta v. Dugger, 622 So. 2d 452, 455 (Fla. 1993).

Moreover, there is no reasonable probability that the presentation of the gunshot residue results would have affected the outcome of the trial. As Defendant notes, a gunshot residue test was only conducted on Mr. Nestor's right hand. Initial Brief at 63. As such, the failure to find gunshot residue on that hand did not preclude the possibility that Mr. Nestor fired the gun with his left hand. Moreover, the gun was found tucked under Defendant's left arm when the police arrived. (T. 1286, 1290, 1714) As such, the record conclusively shows that Defendant touched the gun at some point. Moreover, gunshot residue tests are not conclusive proof of whether or not someone has shot a gun. State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342, 355-56 (Fla. 2000); Mills v. State, 476 So. 2d 172 (Fla. 1985). Given all of these factors, the fact that Defendant was found in possession of the victims' property, the fact that no one was seen entering or

exiting the building, the fact that the building was secured, the fact that the murder weapon was left at the scene, the fact that there was no physical evidence that anyone else had been in the building and the fact that Defendant confessed, there is no reasonable probability that the jury would not have convicted Defendant had counsel presented the gunshot residue test results. As such, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective. Strickland. The lower court properly denied this claim.

#### C. VOIR DIRE

Defendant next asserts that the lower court should have granted an evidentiary hearing on his claim that counsel was ineffective during voir dire. He appears to contend that counsel should have moved to exclude Ms. Carpenter, Mr. Discus and Mr. Wallo. He also claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to question the venire about intoxication. However, the lower court properly denied these claims.

During initial questioning by the trial court, Ms. Carpenter was asked if she felt that anyone convicted of first degree murder had to be sentenced to death and responded, "If it's proven." (DAT. 956-57) She then stated that she would not automatically vote to impose a death sentence upon conviction and would keep an open mind in evaluating the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (DAT. 957) During his questioning,

defense counsel made statements about the justice system being overly protective of the rights of the accused and asked for the opinions of the veniremembers on this issue. (DAT. 1178-84) When he asked Ms. Carpenter's opinion, she agreed that the accused seemed to have more rights. (DAT. 1180-81) However, when counsel asked if that opinion would affect her ability to be fair, she responded that it would not. (DAT. 1180-81) Defense counsel later asked Ms. Carpenter about her feeling regarding a defendant not testifying. (DAT. 1191) She indicated that she would like to hear his testimony and that she would wonder why he was not testifying. (DAT. 1191) When asked if it would influence her decision with regard to whether Defendant was not quilty, she responded:

Well, no, I don't think that's difficult. I wouldn't judge someone guilt because he didn't testify on his behalf, no. I wouldn't do that.

(DAT. 1192) The trial court then indicated that it had seen Ms. Carpenter nodding during a discussion of the State's burden of proof. It inquired if she was willing to follow an instruction that the burden was exclusively on the State and that what Defendant did or did not do was irrelevant. (DAT. 1198-99) Ms. Carpenter indicated that she would. (DAT. 1199)

Mr. Dicus stated that he had been the victim of a mugging in which he was knocked unconscious and did not see the

perpetrator. (DAT. 958) The following exchange occurred about his ability to be fair:

THE COURT: Will that experience affect you in any

way considering this case?

MR. DICUS: No.

THE COURT: You heard Mr. Jones is charged with armed robbery.

Do you feel you can set aside your personal experience and strictly decide this case on the law and the evidence in this case?

MR. DICUS: If it has to be.

THE COURT: You can set aside your personal

experience?

MR. DICUS: Yes.

(DAT. 959) The State inquired about Mr. Dicus' experience with the police in conjunction with the robbery of which he was a victim. (DAT. 1092-93) He again indicated that the prior incident would not affect his ability to be fair in this case. (DAT. 1093)

Mr. Wallo stated that he would weigh the aggravating and mitigating circumstances and follow the law regarding the imposition of a death sentence. (DAT. 1019-20) On questioning by the State, Mr. Wallo stated that he did not have any problem considering the aggravating and mitigating circumstances and following the law in making a decision whether to recommend death. (DAT. 1158-59) The following colloquy then occurred:

[The State]: For example, if the mitigating circumstances were stronger than the aggravating circumstances you could recommend life imprisonment?

MR. WALLO: I don't know.

[m]- Clarkelle [m]- m]- clarkelle [m]-

[The State]: The mitigating circumstances -- in other

words, the things that were in favor of the defendant, if they were stronger than the aggravating circumstances the Judge would instruct you that it would be your lawful duty to recommend life imprisonment instead of the death penalty?

MR. WALLO: Yes.

[The State]: And if the aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating circumstances and the Judge instructed you that you could recommend the death penalty would you follow that instruction?

MR. WALLO: Yes.

(DAT. 1159)

While Defendant asserts that the trial court would have been obliged to remove these veniremembers for cause had counsel so requested, this is untrue. A veniremember can only be removed for cause if the trial court has a reasonable doubt about the veniremember's qualifications. Bryant v. State, 656 So. 2d 426, 428 (Fla. 1995). In making a determination of whether the veniremember is qualified, the trial court is required to consider the totality of the veniremember's answers. See Bryant, 656 So. 2d at 428; Taylor v. State, 638 So. 2d 30, 32 (Fla. 1994)(same); *Trotter v. State*, 576 So. 2d 691, 694 (Fla. 1990)(same). Here, when the totality of the answers of Ms. Carpenter, Mr. Dicus and Mr. Wallo are considered, it is clear that the trial court would not have had a basis for having a reasonable doubt about their qualifications, and they would not have been removed for cause had they been challenged. As the issue was not meritorious, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise it. Counsel is not ineffective for failing to raise a nonmeritorious issue. Kokal v. Dugger, 718 So. 2d 138, 143 (Fla. 1998); Groover v. Singletary, 656 So. 2d 424, 425 (Fla. 1995); Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 2d 107, 111 (Fla. 1995); Breedlove v. Singletary, 595 So. 2d 8, 11 (Fla. 1992). The lower court properly denied this claim.

Defendant also asserts that counsel should have used his last peremptory challenge and have requested two more to have challenged these three jurors. However, there is no requirement, in any jurisdiction, that counsel must utilize all peremptory challenges in every case. When counsel is satisfied with the makeup of a jury, it defies common sense to require him to exercise challenges and alter the makeup of the jury, solely for the sake of exhausting every peremptory. Defense counsel's performance thus cannot be deemed deficient within the meaning of Strickland. See also Muhammad v. State, 426 So. 2d 533, 538 (Fla. 1982)(there is no deficient conduct, where a claim is based on a right that was not established at the time of trial). "The primary purpose of peremptory challenges is to aid and assist in the selection of an impartial jury." State v. Neil, 457 So. 2d 481, 486 (Fla. 1984); see also Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81, 88 (1988) (peremptory challenges "are a means to achieve the end of an impartial jury."). Where there is a claim of loss

of a peremptory challenge, the focus is on whether the jury that actually sat was impartial. Ross, 487 U.S. at 88. There is no prejudice where the jury is impartial. Id. Here, the failure to have used peremptory challenges to have excused Ms. Carpenter, Mr. Dicus and Mr. Wallo did not result in a biased jury. As such, the claim was properly summarily denied.

Moreover, throughout the jury selection process, the trial court only denied cause challenges by Defendant. (DAT. 1204, 1206) Defendant did not use a peremptory challenge to excuse one of these jurors. (DAR. 21) As such, Defendant could only have requested one additional peremptory challenge. Further, using his two challenge to have removed these veniremember would have left Defendant in a position to have been forced to have accepted Ms. Rosen, whom he struck even from being an alternate. Moreover, the State had only used 3 of its peremptory challenges and could have excused all of the remaining veniremembers and forced Defendant to proceed to a new venire without any peremptory challenges. Under these circumstances, not excusing Ms. Carpenter, Mr. Dicus and Mr. Wallo cannot be deemed ineffective. The lower court properly denied this claim.

With regard to the failure to question the venire about their views on an intoxication defense, Defendant did not present an intoxication defense at trial. As argued in Issue I, the lower court properly found that counsel was not ineffective for making a strategic decision not to do so. As such, there was no reason for counsel to have questioned the venire on this issue. The claim was therefore properly denied.

#### D. PRESENCE

Defendant next asserts that the lower court improperly summarily denied his claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to ensure his presence at certain unrecorded bench conferences. However, the lower court properly denied these claims.

In his motion in the lower court and in his brief in this Court, Defendant simply alleged "[n]umerous example appear in the records where [Defendant] is not present for stages of his trial, including unrecorded bench conferences, that are constitutional relevant (R. 1166, 2196, 2241, 2445, 2592)." Defendant makes no assertions regarding how counsel's alleged failure to have Defendant present at these times in anyway affected the outcome of the proceedings. In fact, the record reflects that Defendant was present during the proceedings at pages 2241 and 2445 of the record. As the record reflects that Defendant was present some of the times he claims that he was not and Defendant has not attempted to allege prejudice from the other absences, the lower court properly denied this claim. See

Vining v. State, 2002 WL 1429966, \*10-11 (Fla. Jul. 3, 2002).

# II. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM RELATED TO COUNSEL'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court improperly summarily denied his claim of an alleged conflict of interest. However, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim.

In claim V of his final amended motion for post conviction relief, Defendant asserted that Koch had a conflict of interest at the time that he represented Defendant. (R. 245-54) The claim alleged no new facts and instead was based on a motion to withdraw filed by Koch between the guilt and penalty phases of trial and the hearings on this motion. *Id.* It then asserted that the trial court should have found that a conflict of interest existed and should have granted the motion to withdraw. *Id.* At the *Huff* hearing, Defendant again alleged that the facts from the trial record indicated that there was a conflict of interest. (R. 433-34, 444-45) The lower court denied this claim as conclusively refuted by the record and procedurally barred. (R. 388)

Defendant first asserts that the lower court erred in denying the claim as procedurally barred. However, the issue of whether Defendant and Koch had a conflict of interest such that Koch should have been permitted to withdraw was litigated at the

time of trial. The trial court refused to allow Koch to withdraw. This issue could have been raised on direct appeal. See Wike v. State, 698 So. 2d 817, 820-21 (Fla. 1997)(addressing merits of claim that counsel should have been allowed to withdraw after Defendant punched him). As such, the lower court properly found that this claim was procedurally barred. Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla.), cert. denied, 501 U.S. 1245 (1991).

Moreover, this Court's opinion in Bruno v. State, 807 So. 2d 55 (Fla. 2001), does not show that the lower court improperly found that this claim was procedurally barred. In Bruno, the defendant's attorney had made statements to the trial court while it was ruling on a different issue that created a conflict of interest. This Court held that while the same facts might underlie a claim of trial court error and a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the legal theories of the claims were distinct. Here, however, the alleged trial court error was in failing to finding that Defendant and Koch had a conflict of interest that should have been resulted in his withdraw. As such, here, the legal theories are not distinct. As such, Bruno does not show that the lower court improperly summarily denied the claim.

Even if the claim was not procedurally barred, the lower

court would still have properly rejected it. As argued in Claim I.A. of the State's response to Defendant's state habeas petition, there was no conflict of interest. As such, the lower court properly denied this claim and should be affirmed.

# III. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY REJECTED THE CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE PENALTY PHASE.

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